

# THE GO FOURTH LEARN LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK

**Equipping Leaders To Thrive In An Era of Rapid Change** 

V 1.0

**Presented by** 

Steven J. Lyng, Ph.D. Founder The Go Fourth Learn Project

August 2025

# The Go Fourth Learn Leadership Development Framework Equipping Leaders To Thrive In An Era of Rapid Change

Presented by Dr. Steven Lyng
Founder
The Go Fourth Learn Project

# **Preface: Leading Transformation**

Today's educational landscape demands transformational leaders who can navigate complexity, build sustainable learning organizations, and create lasting positive change for all students. The traditional industrial model of education, with its emphasis on standardization and compliance, is no longer sufficient to develop the creative, collaborative, and critical thinkers that our world needs.

This leadership development framework centers on four essential competencies that research and practice have identified as critical for educational transformation. Drawing from the work of educational innovators including W. Edwards Deming, Richard DuFour, Sir Ken Robinson, and Will Richardson, along with insights from progressive educational institutions, this framework provides school leaders with the specific capabilities needed to transform educational systems.

As a companion document to the Go Fourth Learn whitepaper - Leading Schools In An Age Of Accelerations, this framework focuses on the skills and dispositions needed to bring forth the ideas and directions outlined in the paper.

The urgency for this type of leadership has never been greater. Schools must evolve from institutions focused on sorting and selecting students to dynamic learning communities that develop every student's potential. This transformation requires leaders who can think systemically, sustain organizational learning, lead complex change, create collaborative cultures, and maintain an unwavering focus on student learning outcomes.

# **Contents**

Core Beliefs and Theory of Action	2
The Foundation: Who You Are And What You Do	3
Framework Overview	4
The Two-Point Rubric	5
Competency 1: Deep Systems Thinking Capabilities	6
Competency 2: Sustaining Learning Organizations	7
Competency 3: Leading Transformational Change	8
Competency 4: Focus on Learning, Growth, and Well Being	9
Implementation Guidelines	10
Conclusion	11
About the Author	12
The Go Fourth Learn Project	13
References	14

# **Core Beliefs and Theory of Action**

The Go Fourth Learn Leadership Development Framework is built around a set of core beliefs and a theory of action that sets the foundation for the work of school leaders:

#### **GFL Core Beliefs**

- Leadership is about creating positive systems-level change, not just managing existing structures.
- All students can achieve at high levels with the right supports and opportunities.
- Schools must function as learning organizations where growth and innovation are continuous.
- Leaders must develop both technical and adaptive leadership capacities.
- Transformational change requires collective effort guided by shared vision and a relentless focus on learning.

# **GFL Theory of Action**

#### If we develop school leaders who:

- Possess deep systems thinking capabilities.
- Build and sustain learning organizations.
- Lead transformational change processes.
- Focus relentlessly on learning, growth, and well-being.

#### Then we will create schools that:

- Continuously improve outcomes for all students.
- Close opportunity and achievement gaps.
- Adapt and innovate to meet future needs.
- Sustain positive change over time.
- Function as true learning organizations.

#### The Foundation: Who You Are And What You Do

In a school setting, successfully taking on the work of transformation requires the leader to be focused on cultural change. To be effective in doing the work and taking on the challenges we face in today's schools, the leader needs to be introspectively focused on the critical relationship between "who you are" and "what you do".

"Who you are" can be understood in two important ways :

- Personal intelligence and self-awareness Effective leaders understand the need to lead themselves before others. There is an old saying that you cannot help others until you can help yourself. The work of school leadership, and especially transformational leadership in schools, can be stressful and never-ending. To be effective, the leader needs to establish proper boundaries and attend to their own wellness needs consistently over time; this is not selfish but essential. Another essential characteristic of the transformational leader is growth mindset. In this context, having a growth mindset means that the leader is consistent in actively seeking feedback and looking to understand criticisms and concerns regarding their own leadership and impact on those they lead. Finally, the transformational leader values innovation and has a strong desire to improve things, test theories, and create new ways of working. This must be a personal commitment as transformation can be difficult and at times daunting "fake it until you make it" is not the proper mindset when leading systemic change.
- Social Intelligence and awareness of those around you. A Transformational leader needs to develop a high Emotional Quotient to effectively be the servant leader that they need to be when leading change initiatives. Change of almost any nature induces stress and anxiety in most people. Being aware of the needs of others and adjusting to those needs in sincere ways reduces demotivation. Taking time to build community through recognition of individual contributions and taking time to celebrate wins (even small ones) as a community builds collective commitment to the cause. Understanding where people need to grow and positively responding to those needs with training and capacity building reduces anxiety while positively supporting and encouraging the growth of the team at all levels of the organization.

"What you do" as a transformational leader is best summed up in clearly understanding that the purpose of the role is to work on the system rather than work as part of the system. One way to think about the work from this perspective is through the idea of systems intelligence:

• **Systems intelligence** - A leader with a high level of systems intelligence will have a detailed understanding of how the organization functions, how things get done, and how the relationships between departments and other segments of the organization relate to and support one another. Systems intelligence goes deeper than a relationship with a

Department Head or Team Leader. A transformational leader will take the time to understand the day-to-day work that is taking place for the department or team and then work with the Department Head or Team Leader to make systems improvements and break down barriers with other departments or teams to ensure that the whole school or organization is pulling in the same direction to actualize the transformational change objectives that have been identified. In developing systems intelligence, it is important to map processes, share those processes as transparently as possible, and work with interconnected teams and departments with fidelity to established action plans to achieve the desired changes.

#### **Framework Overview**

This framework consists of four integrated competency areas that work together to develop the leadership skills and dispositions needed to build schools as high-functioning learning organizations.

- 1. **Deep Systems Thinking Capabilities** The ability to understand complex interconnections and identify high-leverage intervention points.
- 2. **Sustaining Learning Organizations** Creating and maintaining cultures of continuous learning and improvement.
- 3. **Leading Transformational Change** Managing complex change processes that transform educational practice.
- 4. **Relentless Focus on Student Learning** Maintaining unwavering commitment to improving learning outcomes for all students.

The framework recognizes that these competencies are interdependent and mutually reinforcing, requiring integrated development rather than treating them as separate skills.

#### The Two-Point Rubric

This leadership development framework employs a two-point rubric designed to emphasize growth and development as an ongoing journey rather than a fixed destination. Unlike traditional four-point rubrics that rank and compare performance across a continuum, this approach focuses on mastery and continuous improvement, creating conditions more conducive to meaningful feedback and professional growth.

The framework uses two simple yet powerful designations:

- Plus (+) areas that highlight current strengths or significant growth.
- **Delta** (▲) areas that identify focused opportunities for improvement and development.

This binary system eliminates the judgmental nature of traditional rating scales, removing the tendency to rank or compare leaders against arbitrary performance levels. Instead, the tool encourages reflective dialogue about what leaders are doing well and where they can direct their energy for maximum impact.

Best practices for using this rubric involve collaborative conversations between leaders and their coaches, mentors, or supervisors to identify specific next steps and actionable growth targets. The feedback process should center on seeking input that encourages risk-taking, experimentation, and continuous learning rather than evaluation for accountability purposes. By focusing on strengths to leverage and areas to develop, this approach fosters a growth mindset that supports leaders in their ongoing professional journey.

The simplicity of the two-point system allows for more nuanced, descriptive feedback that helps leaders understand not just what to improve, but how to move forward in their development.

# **Competency 1: Deep Systems Thinking Capabilities**

From a systems perspective, schools are networks of interdependent people, departments, and divisions that rely on effective leadership to prevent internal competition and ensure cooperation toward a common aim, much like an orchestra under a skilled conductor. Leaders must understand that the efforts of various divisions are not additive—one department achieving its goals in isolation can actually harm another department and the overall system.

Effective leaders focus on improving systems rather than "fixing" individuals. Leaders must also understand variation—recognizing that there will always be natural fluctuation in performance and avoiding the costly mistake of reacting to common causes of variation as if they were special causes requiring intervention.

Finally, leaders must appreciate the psychology of learning—recognizing that people have different abilities and inclinations, and that good leadership nurtures intrinsic motivation while removing barriers to success.

Competency 1: Deep Systems Thinking Capabilities			
Dimension	Indicators	Plus (+)	Delta (▲)
Appreciation for Systems	-Understands and applies Deming's 14 points to guide work as a leaderRecognizes school as a network of interdependent componentsPrevents internal competition that damages the overall systemFosters collaboration across departments toward a common aimUnderstands that optimizing parts doesn't optimize the wholeViews challenges through a systems lens rather than individual blame.		
Understanding Variation	-Distinguishes between common causes and special causesAvoids tampering with systems experiencing normal variationFocuses on improving systems rather than ranking individualsUses data to understand patterns while accounting for natural variationResists overreacting to short-term performance fluctuations.		
Theory-Based Leadership	-Makes predictions based on tested theories rather than assumptionsBuilds knowledge through comparison of prediction with observationUses structured improvement cycles (Plan-Do-Study-Act) for learningDistinguishes between information and true knowledgeChallenges assumptions and tests cause-and-effect relationships		
Leverage Point Identification	-Recognizes that small changes in key areas impact on the wholeIdentifies structural versus programmatic solutionsHas constancy of purpose toward improvement of the instructional coreRemoves barriers that prevent progress and innovationEliminates practices that create fear and inhibit collaboration.		
Integration and Coordination	-Aligns all organizational elements toward student learningCollaborates with feeder schools and partner organizationsBreaks down silos between departments and grade levelsCreates coherent systems rather than fragmented programsManages interdependencies effectively across the organization.		

# **Competency 2: Sustaining Learning Organizations**

Learning organizations are characterized by a shared vision, team learning, systems thinking, and the development of personal mastery. Schools that function as high-performing learning organizations continually examine and question the mental models and core assumptions about teaching and learning that underpin the daily work of students and teachers.

In educational contexts, learning organizations move beyond individual teacher improvement to collective responsibility for student learning. This requires leaders who can create cultures where adults continuously examine their practices, learn from one another, and adapt their approaches based on evidence of student learning.

Sustaining learning organizations requires more than establishing collaborative structures—it demands ongoing attention to the conditions that enable continuous learning. Leaders must foster psychological safety, provide time and resources for collaboration, develop clear protocols for examining practice, and ensure that learning translates into improved outcomes for students.

Competency 2: Sustaining Learning Organizations			
Dimension	Indicators	Plus (+)	Delta (▲)
Culture of Continuous Learning	-Models learning orientation and intellectual humilityCreates psychological safety for risk-taking and experimentationCelebrates learning from both successes and failuresEncourages questioning of assumptions and practicesBuilds shared commitment to ongoing improvement.		
Collaborative Growth Systems	-Establishes effective team structures and protocolsProvides protected time for collaborative inquiryFacilitates meaningful examination of teaching and learningCreates systems for sharing knowledge across the organizationBuilds collective responsibility for student outcomes.		
Sharing Knowledge & Learning	-Documents and preserves organizational learningCreates mechanisms for transferring knowledgeBuilds on prior learning rather than starting overConnects internal learning with external researchScales effective practices throughout the organization.		
Culture of Experimentation	-Encourages creative problem-solving and innovationSupports pilot programs and controlled experimentationProvides resources and support for trying new approachesCreates processes for evaluating and scaling innovationsUses the 70/20/10 rule to balance innovation with proven practices.		
Organizational Adaptation	-Builds systems that survive leadership transitionsEmbeds learning into organizational structures and processesCreates feedback loops for continuous improvementMaintains focus on core mission and values while adapting methodsDevelops organizational resilience and capacity for change.		

# **Competency 3: Leading Transformational Change**

Transformational change is particularly challenging because it often requires people to abandon familiar practices and embrace new ways of thinking and working. This creates natural resistance that leaders must skillfully navigate while maintaining momentum toward the desired future state.

Effective change leadership requires understanding the difference between technical and adaptive challenges. Technical challenges have known solutions that can be implemented through training and resources. Adaptive challenges require people to change their beliefs, values, and behaviors—a much more complex process that requires different leadership approaches.

Leaders must also understand that sustainable change happens through people, not to people. This requires building change readiness, involving stakeholders in the change process, and providing ongoing support as people navigate the transition from their current state to the future state.

Dimension	Indicators	Plus (+)	Delta (▲)
Readiness & Vision	-Creates urgency for change without creating panicDevelops compelling vision of the desired future stateBuilds a coalition of supporters and championsCommunicates the why behind change initiativesAddresses resistance with empathy and persistence.		
Adaptive Change Management	-Distinguishes between technical and adaptive challengesManages the emotional aspects of change effectivelyProvides appropriate support during transition periods -Maintains focus on core mission during turbulent timesBalances pressure for change with support for people		
Gathering Momentum	-Creates detailed implementation plans with clear milestonesMonitors progress and adjusts strategies as neededCelebrates early wins to build momentumMaintains consistent focus over extended periods of timeRemoves barriers and provides necessary resources.		
Stakeholder Engagement	-Involves stakeholders in planning and implementing changeConsistently and positively addresses the "4 Frictions"Listens to concerns and adjusts approaches accordinglyBuilds capacity for others to lead change initiativesCreates multiple channels for feedback and input.		
Institutionalizing Change	<ul> <li>Embeds changes into organizational structures and processes.</li> <li>Aligns policies, procedures, and resource allocation.</li> <li>Develops systems to sustain change over time.</li> <li>Builds capability for ongoing adaptation and improvement.</li> <li>Creates accountability mechanisms for continued progress.</li> </ul>		

# Competency 4: Focus on Learning, Growth, and Well Being

A relentless focus on student learning represents the ultimate purpose of educational leadership. This focus must be both broad and deep—broad in terms of encompassing all aspects of student development (academic, social, emotional, physical) and deep in terms of understanding how learning actually occurs and what conditions enable it. Leaders must understand learning theory, effective instructional practices, and assessment strategies while also attending to the systemic factors that influence learning outcomes.

The "relentless" aspect of this competency emphasizes that this focus cannot waver regardless of external pressures, resource constraints, or other competing priorities. Every decision, every initiative, and every resource allocation must be evaluated in terms of its impact on student learning.

This competency requires leaders to be both learning leaders and instructional leaders. They must understand the technical aspects of curriculum, instruction, and assessment while also creating the organizational conditions that enable effective teaching and learning to flourish.

Competency 4: Relentless Focus on Student Learning, Growth, and Well-Being			
Dimension	Indicators	Plus (+)	Delta (▲)
Growth-Oriented Culture	-Communicates that intellectual abilities are not fixed traitsIntegrates neuroplasticity concepts systematically across all programsEliminates practices based on the notion of fixed intelligenceFormally celebrates process and challenge-oriented achievementsUnderstands that grades predict grades, and curiosity predicts success.		
Process Focused Pedagogy	-Implements assessments emphasizing formative feedback and masteryFocuses learning on skill development over content acquisitionCelebrates practices that focus on effort and persisting through difficultyPromotes collaborative learning experiences as essentialFacilitates inquiry-based learning as a foundational approachPrioritizes questioning over answer-seeking in instructional designimplements flexible pacing that allows students to progress as individualsFacilitates connection of learning to real-world problem-solving.		
Principles of Universal Design	-Ensures multiple engagement pathways for all learnersProvides multiple ways for students to show learning growthCreates executive function supports that build student agencyEstablishes self-regulation skills as learnable for allMonitors accessibility, supports while maintaining high expectations.		
Mistake Positive Environment	-Ensures appropriately challenging tasks are the norm for all studentsBuilds reflection into learning experiences for adults and studentsImplements productive struggle as a fundamental approachDevelops a culture where students feel safe with struggle and confusion.		
Adult Mindset Leadership	-Ensures continual growth and innovation in programs and methods -Regularly examines underlying assumptions about teaching and learningHelps teachers examine assumptions about intelligence and abilityMonitors mindset, beliefs, and school culture indicators over timeIntegrates growth orientation into staff hiring, evaluation, and support.		

# **Implementation Guidelines**

## **Assessment and Development Planning**

Successful implementation of this development framework begins with a comprehensive assessment of current leadership capacity across all four competency areas. Leaders should use the competency indicators to conduct honest self-assessment, gather 360-degree feedback from stakeholders, and identify priority areas for growth.

Development planning should be integrated across competencies rather than treating them as separate skills. For example, a leader working on systems thinking might simultaneously focus on learning organization development and change leadership since these competencies reinforce each other.

#### **Learning Experiences and Support Systems**

The framework should guide the design of varied learning experiences for leaders, including:

- Cohort-based Learning: Bringing leaders together to learn from each other and build professional networks.
- **Individual Coaching:** Providing personalized support for competency development and leadership challenges.
- Action Learning Projects: Applying new capabilities to real organizational challenges with built-in reflection and feedback.
- Mentoring Relationships: Pairing developing leaders with accomplished practitioners.
- Professional Learning Networks: Creating ongoing opportunities for collaboration and mutual support.

Support systems must include executive sponsorship, skilled coaching and mentoring, aligned organizational systems, and removal of barriers to growth.

### Conclusion

This framework provides a comprehensive foundation for developing transformational school leaders equipped with the four essential competencies needed for educational transformation.

The ultimate goal is to develop leaders who can move schools from industrial-model institutions focused on standardization and efficiency to learning organizations that develop creative, collaborative, critically thinking citizens prepared to tackle complex, real-world challenges while maintaining strong character and a sense of purpose.

Success requires sustained commitment to leadership development at all levels—from aspiring leaders to veterans. When fully implemented, this framework can help create a pipeline of leaders equipped to transform schools into high-performing learning organizations that serve all students effectively.

The competencies and indicators should be regularly reviewed and updated based on evolving needs and evidence of effectiveness. Leadership development is itself a learning process that requires continuous improvement and adaptation to changing contexts and challenges.

Most importantly, this framework recognizes that developing these four essential competencies is not just about building individual capacity—it's about creating the conditions for collective leadership and organizational learning that can sustain positive change over time. The future of education depends on our ability to develop leaders who possess these critical capabilities and can use them in the service of all students.

### **About the Author**



Dr. Steven Lyng is an educational consultant and thought leader specializing in Systems Thinking approaches to school transformation. With over two decades of experience in education, including roles as a Teacher, Principal, Upper School Head, Assistant Head of School, and Head of School, Dr. Lyng brings a wealth of practical knowledge to his work in educational innovation.

Dr. Lyng works with school districts, independent schools, and educational organizations to build leadership capacity and

implement transformative change initiatives. His approach emphasizes collaborative problem-solving, data-driven decision-making, and the development of learning organizations that can continually adapt to meet the needs of students in a rapidly changing world.

Dr. Lyng is passionate about helping educational leaders navigate the complexities of change and build schools that truly prepare students for success in the modern world. Through his consulting services, workshops, and speaking engagements, he provides valuable insights and practical strategies for creating more engaging, relevant, and effective learning environments. For more information on Dr. Lyng's consulting services or to book a workshop for your school or district, please visit gofourthlearn.com or email steven.i.lyng@gmail.com

# The Go Fourth Learn Project

# Equipping Leaders to Thrive in an Era of Rapid Change

The Go Fourth Learn Project, founded by Dr. Steven Lyng in 2023, is an innovative educational initiative that seeks to redefine the landscape of education for the next generation of students. At its core, the project embraces three fundamental elements reflected in its name:

- "Go" represents an action-oriented approach driven by the urgent need to transform high school education.
- "Fourth" acknowledges the present context of the Fourth Industrial Revolution and its technological impacts on society.
- "Learn" embodies the innate human desire for growth and learning that educators strive to nurture.

Central to the project's philosophy is the concept of the "Lead Learner," a leadership style that emphasizes continuous growth and development. Through this lens, the Go Fourth Learn Project works to develop educational leaders as systems thinkers who can create dynamic, engaging learning environments where curiosity, creativity, and collaboration flourish.

The Go Fourth Learn Project focuses on building school leadership capacity that addresses relevance gaps in school curriculum and fosters innovative learning cultures that respond to the rapidly changing demands of modern society.

The project's guiding principle that "what matters is that each student visualizes and actualizes their own life" reflects its recognition that success in today's world follows no set formula. By equipping educators with essential tools and strategies, the Go Fourth Learn Project aims to build a community where educators are inspired to innovate and students are empowered to excel in ways that align with their individual paths and potentials.

#### References

Note: This framework is a companion document to the GFL Whitepaper - Leading Schools In An Age Of Accelerations. Works cited below are from the original document.

Ackoff, Russell. "Why so Few Organizations Adopt Systems Thinking ." *The Systems Thinker*, Mar. 2007, thesystemsthinker.com/why-few-organizations-adopt-systems-thinking/. Accessed 8 Dec. 2023.

Ambrose, D. (1987). Managing complex change. Pittsburgh, PA: The Enterprise Group, Ltd

Baker, Edward Martin . The Symphony of Profound Knowledge. iUniverse, 5 Dec. 2016.

Bennett, Nathan, and G. James Lemoine. "What VUCA Really Means for You." *Harvard Business Review*, Feb. 2014, <a href="https://hbr.org/2014/01/what-vuca-really-means-for-you">hbr.org/2014/01/what-vuca-really-means-for-you</a>.

Carder, Ph.D., Brooks, and Marilyn Monda, MA. "Deming's Profound Knowledge and Leadership "We Are Still Not out of the Crisis"." *ASQ Human Development and Leadership Division*, 2013.

City, Elizabeth. "Learning from Instructional Rounds." *Educational Leadership*, Oct. 2011. *Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development*.

City, Elizabeth. "The Learning Core ." Orbis Exemplary Learning, 20 June 2020, youtu.be/axOAG7wDGz0?si=5dSDxDbdr2rOJNno. Accessed 24 Oct. 2023.

Deci, Edward. Why We Do What We Do: Understanding Self-Motivation. New York, Penguin Books, 1995.

Deming, W. Edwards. *The New Economics for Industry, Government, Education*. 3rd ed., Cambridge, Massachusetts MIT Press, 2018.

Deming, W. Edwards. *Out of the Crisis*. Cambridge, The MIT Press, 2000.

Dizikes, Peter. "Thomas Friedman Examines Impact of Global "Accelerations."" *MIT News Massachusetts Institute of Technology*, 2 Oct. 2018 news.mit.edu/2018/thomas-friedman-impact-global-accelerations-1003.

Elmore, Richard. Improving the Instructional Core. 2008.

Elmore, Tim, and Andrew McPeak. *Marching off the Map Inspire Students to Navigate a Brand New World*. Atlanta, Georgia, Poet Gardener Publishing, 2017.

Friedman, Thomas L. *Thank You for Being Late: An Optimist's Guide to Thriving in the Age of Accelerations*. New York, Picador, 2017.

Kania, John, et al. THE WATER of SYSTEMS CHANGE. 2018.

Lancefield, David, and Christian Rangen. "4 Actions Transformational Leaders Take." *Harvard Business Review*, 5 May 2021, hbr.org/2021/05/4-actions-transformational-leaders-take.

Lillard, Angeline Stoll. *Montessori: The Science behind the Genius*. New York, Oxford University Press, 2017.

Looney, D. Scott . "The Future of Education: Why Hawken Has to Lead by Hawken School - Issuu." *Issuu.com*, 4 Aug. 2014,

issuu.com/hawkenschool/docs/thefutureofeducation#google\_vignette. Accessed 7 Mar. 2024.

Lyng, Steven. "From "Why" to "How"-Deming's 14 Points for Today's School Leader." *Substack.com*, GFL Lead Learner Blog, 22 Mar. 2024, gofourthlearn.substack.com/p/from-why-to-how-demings-14-points. Accessed 8 Dec. 2024.

Mahnken, Kevin. "Generation Meh: Students Give Schools Middling Marks, Gallup Poll Finds." *The74million.org*, 14 June 2023,

www.the74million.org/article/generation-meh-students-give-schools-middling-marks-gallup-poll-finds/. Accessed 6 May 2024.

Moen , Ronald D. , and Clifford L. Norman . "Always Applicable - Deming's System of Profound Knowledge Remains Relevant for Management and Quality Professionals Today." *Quality Progress* , June 2016, pp. 47–53, <a href="https://www.qualityprogress.com">www.qualityprogress.com</a>. Accessed 10 Dec. 2023.

Nordgren, Loran F, and David Schonthal. *The Human Element: Overcoming the Resistance That Awaits New Ideas*. Hoboken, New Jersey, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2022.

Richardson, Will . 10 Feb. 2024,

www.linkedin.com/posts/willrichardsonbqi\_education-schools-edleadership-activity-7162053433 921945600-ol9k?utm source=share&utm medium=member desktop. Accessed 17 Feb. 2024.

Schein, Edgar H. Organizational Culture and Leadership (Jossey-Bass Business & Management Series). Jossey Bass Inc, 2004.

School Leader Paradigm - Becoming While Doing. School Leader Collaborative, 2018.

Senge, Peter M. *The Fifth Discipline : The Art and Practice of the Learning Organization*. New York, Doubleday/Currency, 2006.

Senge, Peter. "The Leadership of Profound Change." *SPC Ink*, 2000, pp. 1–3, www.spcpress.com/pdf/other/Senge.pdf. Accessed 25 Jan. 2024.

*The State of the American Student*. Center on Reinventing Public Education, Mary Lou Fulton Teachers College, Arizona State University, 2023.

Walton Family Foundation Voices of Gen Z Study Youth Happiness. Walton Family Foundation , 2024.

Wieman, Carl . "We Must Confront the Assumptions That Have Held Back HE for Centuries." *THE Campus Learn, Share, Connect*, 17 Feb. 2022, www.timeshighereducation.com/campus/we-must-confront-assumptions-have-held-back-he-centuries.

Williams, Morgan. "John Dewey in the 21st Century." *Journal of Inquiry & Action in Education*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2017, p. 2017. Accessed 12 Nov. 2023.

Zmuda, Allison. Breaking Free from Myths about Teaching and Learning: Innovation as an Engine for Student Success. Alexandria, Va., ASCD, 2010.